
 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of August 21, 2019 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 

COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
http://ethics.nv.gov 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
DATE & TIME OF MEETING:  Wednesday, August 21, 2019 at 9:30 a.m. 
 
PLACE OF MEETING:  This meeting will be held at the following location: 

 

Governor’s Office of Economic Development 

808 W. Nye Lane 

Carson City, NV 89703 
 

and via video-conference to: 
 

Grant Sawyer State Building 

Suite 5400 

555 E. Washington Avenue 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 

*Commissioners may appear telephonically 

 
 

AGEND A 
NOTES: 

 Two or more agenda items may be combined for consideration. 

 At any time, an agenda item may be taken out of order, removed, or delayed. 

 Public comment will be accepted at the beginning of the open session and again before the 
conclusion of the open session of the meeting.  Comment and/or testimony by the public 
may be limited to three (3) minutes.  No action may be taken on any matter referred to in 
remarks made as public comment.  Members of the public may also submit written public 
comment to the Commission at NCOE@ethics.nv.gov.  

 1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 2. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the public will 
be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

3. Approval of Minutes of the July 17, 2019 Commission Meeting. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

4. Discussion and consideration of Proposed Stipulation regarding Ethics Complaint 
Case Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C (Antinoro). (Portions of this Item may be exempt 
from Nevada’s Open Meeting Law, See Notes) 

http://ethics.nv.gov/
mailto:NCOE@ethics.nv.gov


 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Notice of August 21, 2019 Commission Meeting and Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 

For 
Possible 
Action 

5. Determination and direction regarding referral of the Commission’s finding of a willful 
violation of the Ethics Law pursuant to a Stipulated Agreement in In re Cooper, 
Comm’n Op. No. 18-005C (2019), and all associated public records to the Nevada 
Attorney General pursuant to NRS 281A.790(7). 

For 
Possible 
Action 

6. Presentation and approval of the Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report prepared by the 
Executive Director pursuant to NAC 281A.180(2). 

For 
Possible 
Action 

7. Report and recommendations by Executive Director on agency status and 
operations and possible direction thereon. Items to be discussed include, without 
limitation: 

 Upcoming Commission Meetings 

 Case Status 

 FY20 Budget Status  

 Protocols regarding confidentiality of a requestor’s identity pursuant to NRS 
281A.750(2) 

 
8. Commissioner Comments on matters including, without limitation, identification of 

future agenda items, upcoming meeting dates and meeting procedures. No action 
will be taken under this agenda item. 

 
9. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the public may 

be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

10. Adjournment. 

NOTES: 
 The Commission is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for any member of the public who has a 

disability and wishes to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please 
notify the Nevada Commission on Ethics, in writing at 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada 89703; 
via email at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469 as far in advance as possible. 

 To request an advance copy of the supporting materials for any open session of this meeting, contact Executive 
Director Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469. 

 This Agenda and supporting materials are posted and are available not later than the 3rd working day before the 
meeting at the Commission’s office, 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada, or on the Commission’s 
website at www.ethics.nv.gov.  A copy also will be available at the meeting location on the meeting day. 

 Any meeting or hearing held by the Commission pursuant to NRS 281A.760 to receive information or 
evidence regarding the conduct of a public officer or employee and deliberations of the Commission 
concerning an ethics complaint are exempt from the provisions of NRS Chapter 241, Nevada’s Open Meeting 
Law. As a result, these agenda items, or any portion of them, may be heard in closed session. 

 
This Notice of Public Meeting and Agenda was posted in compliance with NRS 241.020 before 9:00 a.m. on 
the third working day before the meeting at the following locations: 

 Nevada Commission on Ethics, 704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204, Carson City 

 Nevada Commission on Ethics' website: http://ethics.nv.gov 

 Nevada Public Notice Website: http://notice.nv.gov 

 State Library & Archives Building, 100 North Stewart Street, Carson City 

 Blasdel Building, 209 E. Musser Street, Carson City 

 Washoe County Administration Building, 1001 East 9th Street, Reno 

 Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 E. Washington Ave., Las Vegas 

mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
http://www.ethics.nv.gov/
http://ethics.nv.gov/


Agenda Item 3 



Page 1 of 6 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 

MINUTES 
of the meeting of the 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

The Commission on Ethics held a public meeting on 
Wednesday, July 17, 2019, at 9:30 a.m. 

at the following location: 

Nevada State Capitol Building 

Guinn Room 

101 N. Carson Street, Second Floor 

Carson City, NV 89701 

and via video-conference to: 

Governor’s Conference Room 

Grant Sawyer State Office Building 

555 E. Washington Avenue, Suite 5100 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

These minutes constitute a summary of the above proceedings of the Nevada 
Commission on Ethics. Verbatim transcripts are available for public inspection at the 
Commission’s office.  

1. Call to Order and Roll Call.

Chair Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. appeared in Carson City and called the meeting to order at 9:30
a.m. Also appearing in Carson City were Commissioners Brian Duffrin and Barbara Gruenewald, 
Esq. Appearing in Las Vegas were Vice-Chair Keith A. Weaver, Esq. and Commissioner Teresa 
Lowry, Esq. Commissioners Philip K. (P.K.) O’Neill and Amanda Yen, Esq. appeared 
telephonically. Commissioner Kim Wallin, CPA was excused. Present for Commission staff in 
Carson City were Executive Director Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., Commission Counsel 
Tracy L. Chase, Esq., Associate Counsel Judy Prutzman, Esq. and Executive Assistant Kari 
Pedroza.  

The pledge of allegiance was conducted. 

2. Public Comment.

The Chair asked for public comment. No public comment was provided.

/// 

http://ethics.nv.gov/


 

Page 2 of 6  

3. Election of Commission Chair and Vice Chair for Fiscal Year 2019-20, pursuant to NAC 
281A.150. 

 
Commissioner Gruenewald moved to reappoint Commissioner Lau as Chair and 

Commissioner Weaver as Vice-Chair. Commissioner Duffrin seconded the motion. The Motion 
was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 

 
Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson informed the Commission that the Chair and the 

Vice-Chair are serving the last year of their second terms and suggested that any other 
Commissioners interested in serving as Chair or Vice-Chair after this year could request 
coordinated training with the presiding Officer.   

 
Chair Lau thanked the Commissioners for their confidence in her as the Chair.  
 

4. Approval of Minutes of the May 22, 2019 Commission Meeting. 
 
Chair Lau stated that all Commissioners were present for the May meeting except Vice-

Chair Weaver who was excused from that meeting and would abstain from participating in this 
item. 

 
Commission Counsel Tracy Chase informed the Commission that upon reviewing the 

minutes some clerical typos were identified and she asked that the Commission give the 
Executive Director and Commission Counsel authority to correct the minutes within the motion 
approving the minutes.  

 
Commissioner Duffrin moved to approve the May 22, 2019 Minutes with the clerical errors 

corrected. Commissioner Gruenewald seconded the motion. The Motion was put to a vote and 
carried as follows:  

 
Chair Lau:    Aye. 
Commissioner Duffrin:  Aye. 
Commissioner Gruenewald:  Aye. 

 Commissioner Lowry:   Aye. 
 Commissioner O’Neill:  Aye. 
 Commissioner Yen:   Aye. 
 Vice-Chair Weaver:   Abstain. 
  

5. Discussion and direction to the Executive Director to inform the Board of Examiners and 
the Interim Finance Committee of significantly increased case load (Advisory and 
Complaint cases) and request additional Interim resources, including, without limitation, 
a temporary contract investigator and/or attorney position, to maintain statutory deadlines 
for jurisdictional determinations, investigations, review panel determinations, hearings, 
and other proceedings. 
 
Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson referred the Commissioners to the current case 

statistics provided in the meeting materials and pointed out that the investigatory case load had 
doubled from last year. She added that staff continues to investigate Complaints received from 
the prior Fiscal Year in addition to the new complaints received, and it has been difficult to keep 
up with the volume of investigatory demands. In particular, Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson 
noted that many subjects are not waiving statutory deadlines which increases the demands on 
staff. She reiterated the Commission’s bill did not pass and included a provision allowing for 
extensions of investigatory deadlines for good cause. She stated that she does not yet have a 
specific plan to propose to the Interim Finance Committee (IFC) and the Board of Examiners 
(BOE) but asked that the Commission to consider a proposal for either a temporary contract 
position or a request to the Attorney General’s office to assist with pending investigations. In 
considering the latter option she provided insight as to why the Commission has not previously 
utilized the Attorney General’s office for assistance and offered the following: 



 

Page 3 of 6  

1. The Attorney General and his staff are subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction; 
2. The Commission has a duty to refer a willful violation of the Ethics Law to the Attorney 

General’s office which it believes to also constitute criminal conduct; 
3. The Attorney General’s office is responsible for representing state public officers and 

employees before the Commission. 
 
Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson shared her opinion that working with an independent 

contractor would be the better option to maintain separation between the Commission and the 
Attorney General’s office. She asked the Commission for the authority to proceed with requesting 
additional resources from IFC and BOE if the needs require it and the Governor’s office is in 
support.  

 
Commissioner O’Neill commented that he agreed with the Executive Director’s stance on 

asking the Attorney General’s office for assistance and asked that the Commission approve the 
Executive Director’s proposal prior to submission to IFC and BOE. Executive Director Nevarez-
Goodson confirmed that the Commission would have the opportunity to provide final approval 
before she proceeded with any such request, and she outlined the process for IFC and BOE 
submittal.  

 
Commissioner Gruenewald moved to approve the Executive Director’s request to request 

additional interim services including a temporary contract investigator and/or attorney position. 
Commissioner Lowry seconded the Motion.  The Motion was put to a vote and carried as follows: 

 
Chair Lau:    Aye. 
Vice-Chair Weaver:   Aye. 
Commissioner Duffrin:  Aye. 
Commissioner Gruenewald:  Aye. 

 Commissioner Lowry:   Aye. 
 Commissioner O’Neill:  Aye. 
 Commissioner Yen:   Aye. 
 

6. Discussion and consideration of Proposed Stipulation regarding Ethics Complaint Case 
No. 19-018C (Tull). (Portions of this Item may be exempt from Nevada’s Open Meeting 
Law, See Notes) 
 
Chair Lau stated that as members of the Review Panel considering this Item, 

Commissioners Gruenewald, O’Neill and Wallin were excused from participating in this matter.  
 
Commission Counsel Chase stated that pursuant to NRS 281A.220 (4), Commissioners 

who served as members of the Review Panel in this case would be precluded from participating 
further in this matter and the statute further reduces the required quorum necessary to act in this 
matter.  

 
Chair L au asked the parties in the Complaint to come forward and identify themselves for 

the record. Appearing before the Commission in this matter was Associate Counsel Judy A. 
Prutzman, Esq., representing the Executive Director and Mike Pavlakis, Esq., representing 
Subject Cathy Tull, who was not in attendance. 

 
Associate Counsel Prutzman provided a brief overview of the Proposed Stipulation 

Agreement. Associate Counsel Prutzman summarized that Complaint Case No. 19-018C, which 
alleged that Cathy Tull, the former Chief Marketing Officer for the Las Vegas Convention and 
Visitors Authority (LVCVA), violated the Ethics Law when she used $6,000 worth of Southwest 
Airlines gift cards purchased by LVCVA for personal travel for herself and family members. 
Associate Counsel Prutzman informed the Commission that a Review Panel consisting of three 
members of the Commission determined that just and sufficient case exists for the Commission 
to render an Opinion regarding the allegations that implicate NRS 281A.400 (1), (2), (7) and (9). 



 

Page 4 of 6  

The Proposed Stipulation reflects that Ms. Tull’s conduct would result in one willful violation of the 
Ethics Law implicating NRS 281A.400 subsections (1), (2), (7) and (9) of the Ethics Law and a 
$4,500 civil penalty for the violation. Associate Counsel Prutzman offered that Ms. Tull’s use of 
the gift cards over several years warranted the significant civil penalty proposed in the Agreement. 
She further provided that an additional penalty in the amount of $4,200 would be imposed and is 
equal to a portion of the financial benefit realized by Ms. Tull in the utilization of the gift cards for 
her and her family’s personal travel. Associate Counsel Prutzman summarized the total penalty 
owed by Ms. Tull would be $8,700 and the penalty may be collected by the Commission in monthly 
installments with the full amount due in approximately two years. She outlined mitigating factors 
taken into account to reach the penalty amounts proposed in the Agreement.  

 
Mike Pavlakis, Esq., legal counsel for Subject Tull, stated that he had nothing to add. 
 
Chair Lau asked if the Commission had questions for either party.  
 
Commissioner Duffrin asked Associate Counsel Prutzman to clarify that the total financial 

benefit realized by Ms. Tull included travel by Tull and members of her family and Associate 
Counsel Prutzman confirmed. Commissioner Duffrin asked a follow-up question regarding 
whether Ms. Tull provided the Commission with an accounting of travel funds utilized and 
Associate Counsel Prutzman answered that Ms. Tull was responsive when questioned about the 
funds. Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson further informed Commissioner Duffrin that the 
accounting of the travel funds was provided and confirmed by Southwest Airlines.  

 
Commissioner Lowry moved to approve the Proposed Stipulation in Ethics Complaint 

Case No. 19-018C in the matter of Tull. Commissioner Yen seconded the Motion. Commission 
Counsel asked Commissioner Lowry to include in her motion authority for Commission Counsel 
to finalize the form with the parties. Commissioner Lowry amended her motion to include the 
Commission Counsel’s request. Commissioner Yen amended her second of the motion. The 
Motion was put to a vote and carried as follows: 

 
Chair Lau:    Aye. 
Vice-Chair Weaver:   Aye. 
Commissioner Duffrin:  Aye. 

 Commissioner Lowry:   Aye. 
 Commissioner Yen:   Aye. 
 

7. Report and recommendations by Executive Director on agency status and operations and 
possible direction thereon. Items to be discussed include, without limitation: 

 Quarterly Case Status Update 

 Complaint/ Advisory Cases by City and County (FY17-FY19) Update 

 Upcoming Commission Meetings 

 FY19 Budget Status 

 2019 Legislative Recap 
 

Quarterly Case Status Update: Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an update 
on the quarterly Case Status Log reflecting the full data through the end of Fiscal Year 2019. She 
reiterated that the Commission has seen a significant increase in the number of both Complaints 
and Advisory Requests received as compared to the previous Fiscal Year.  

 
Complaint/ Advisory Cases by City and County (FY17-FY19): Executive Director Nevarez-

Goodson referred the Commission to the updated breakdown of Complaints and Advisory 
Opinions by city/county, a copy of which was provided in their materials. She informed the 
Commission that this information would be reported in the annual report at the next Commission 
meeting.  

 



 

Page 5 of 6  

Upcoming Commission Meetings:  Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson indicated that 
due to the amount of cases being processed she would ask the Commissioners to reserve the 
third Wednesday of the month for Commission Meetings for the foreseeable future. She noted 
that the November and December meetings would be held on the second Wednesday of the 
month to accommodate Holiday schedules. She informed the Commission that there will be an 
increase in the number of upcoming panels and identified the assigned panel Members for the 
next quarter as Commissioner Duffrin serving as the presiding Officer and Commissioners Lowry 
and Yen. She asked the panel members to reserve August 5 for a panel hearing.  

 
FY19 Budget Status: Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson informed the Commission that 

the FY19 allocated funds had been almost completely expended as expected. She let them know 
that a final work program was being processed to fund the COLA’s approved for FY19 from the 
State General fund. She informed the Commission that remaining FY19 travel funds were 
expended for rural training in Lovelock, Winnemucca, Battle Mountain, Elko, Ely, Eureka and 
Churchill counties conducted by the Executive Director and Commission Counsel. She added that 
as a result of the trainings the Commission has received numerous Acknowledgment filings and 
six new Requests for Advisory Opinions. Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson informed the 
Commission of her plans to provide a similar training in the fall for Southern Nevada.  

 
2019 Legislative Recap: The Executive Director reiterated that the Commission’s bill (SB 

129) did not pass through the Assembly and that the failure of SB 129 to pass has lasting 
consequences as far as the current caseload is concerned, as well as some of the Commission’s 
processes. She expressed her intention to pursue the same bill amendments at the next 
Legislative session if that was the will of the Commission. She provided that she is working with 
a new liaison with the Governor’s office to assist the Commission regarding bill amendments in 
the future. She offered that staff is considering possible amendments through the regulatory 
process and will assess whether this an efficient resolution.  

 
Executive Director closed her report with an expression of her appreciation to Commission 

staff for their hard work under the increased case load.  
 
Commissioner Gruenewald moved to approve the report of the Executive Director on 

agency status. Chair Lau seconded the motion. The motion was put to a vote and carried 
unanimously. 
 

8. Commissioner comments and identification of future agenda items. No action will be 
taken under this agenda item. 
 
Commissioner O’Neill requested a status update on the case he previously requested be 

added to the Agenda in regard to referring a case to the Attorney General’s office. Commission 
Counsel Chase informed him that the matter will be included for the next Commission meeting.  

 
9. Public Comment. 
 

No public comment. 
 

10. Adjournment. 
 
Commissioner Gruenewald made a motion to adjourn the public meeting. Commissioner 

Duffrin seconded the motion. The Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:14 a.m. 
 

 



Page 6 of 6 

Minutes prepared by: Minutes approved August 21, 2019: 

/s/ Kari Pedroza /s/ Cheryl A. Lau_________  
Kari Pedroza Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. 
Executive Assistant  Chair 

/s/ Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson /s/ Keith A. Weaver_ _____ 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. Keith A. Weaver, Esq. 
Executive Director  Vice-Chair 



Agenda Item 4 



DRAFT
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C
Page 1 of 10

STATE OF NEVADA

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS

In re Gerald Antinoro, Sheriff,
Storey County, State of Nevada,

Subject. /

Consolidated
Ethics Complaint
Case No. 18-031C
Case No. 18-052C

PROPOSED DRAFT
CONSOLIDATED STIPULATED AGREEMENT

1. PURPOSE: This Stipulated Agreement resolves Ethics Complaint Case

Numbers 18-031C and 18-052C (“Complaints”) before the Nevada Commission on Ethics

(“Commission”) concerning Gerald Antinoro (“Antinoro”), the Sheriff of Storey County in

the State of Nevada.

2. JURISDICTION: At all material times, Antinoro was a public officer as

defined in NRS 281A.160. The Ethics in Government Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS

Chapter 281A gives the Commission jurisdiction over elected and appointed public

officers and public employees whose conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions

of NRS Chapter 281A. See NRS 281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction

over Antinoro in this matter.

3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION

a. On or about May 30, 2018, the Commission received Complaint No. 18-031C

from Kris Thompson, through his legal counsel, Rick Hsu, Esq. (“Hsu”) of

Maupin Cox LeGoy, alleging that Antinoro violated NRS 281A.400(2) and (7)

when he wore the Storey County Sheriff’s Office uniform and/or badge in

photos that appeared on campaign billboards and on Antinoro’s website and

Facebook page during his campaign for re-election.

b. On or about July 30, 2018, the Commission received Complaint No. 18-052C

submitted by Hsu on behalf of Mike Cullen (“Cullen”), alleging that Antinoro

violated NRS 281A.400(1), (2) and (7) and NRS 281A.520 when he wore the

Storey County Sheriff’s Office uniform and/or badge during three debates with

Cullen and on a campaign float during the Memorial Day parade in Virginia City.



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 2 of 10 

 
 

Complaint No. 18-052C also alleges that Antinoro violated the Ethics Law when 

he used his position as Sheriff to benefit his campaign for re-election and solicit 

sponsorship funds during a live radio show entitled “Sheriff Jerry and Friends.”    

c. The Commission issued an Order on Jurisdiction and Investigation for each 

Complaint and directed the Executive Director to investigate the Complaints. 

Additionally, the Executive Director issued Notices of Complaint and 

Investigation and Antinoro was provided an opportunity to submit written 

responses. 

d. On September 26, 2018 and December 17, 2018, the Commission received a 

written response from Antinoro for Complaint Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C, 

respectively, through his attorney, Katherine F. Parks, Esq. of Thorndal 

Armstrong Delk Balkenbush & Eisinger.  

e. On February 13, 2019, the Executive Director presented a recommendation in 

Complaint No. 18-031C relating to just and sufficient cause to a three-member 

review panel pursuant to NRS 281A.720. 

f. In a Panel Determination for Complaint No. 18-031C issued on February 27, 

2019, the Panel unanimously found and concluded that: 

1) Credible evidence supported just and sufficient cause for the 

Commission to render an opinion regarding the alleged violations of 

NRS 281A.400(2) and (7); and 

2) The Complaint should be referred to the Commission for further 

proceedings. 

g. Antinoro has waived his rights to a panel determination in Complaint No. 18-

052C and acknowledges that credible evidence establishes just and sufficient 

cause for the Commission to render an opinion regarding the allegations 

implicating NRS 281A.400(1), (2) and (7) and NRS 281A.520.  

h. In lieu of an adjudicatory hearing before the Commission on these matters, 

Antinoro now enters into this Consolidated Stipulated Agreement. 



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 3 of 10 

 
 

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following facts were 

relevant to this matter:1  

a. Antinoro is the elected Sheriff of Storey County, a public officer as defined by 

NRS 281A.160. He has served as Sheriff since 2011 and is serving his third 

term in office after winning elections in 2010, 2014 and 2018. 

b. On or about July 27, 2016, Antinoro attended a meeting of the Nevada Sheriffs’ 

and Chiefs’ Association (“Association”) in Ely, Nevada, at which time Thomas 

Beko, Esq. provided a presentation to the Association concerning the outcome 

of In re Pitts, Comm’n Op. No. 14-71C (2016) (“Pitts”) and the effect of Pitts on 

the right of elected incumbent sheriffs to campaign in uniform. The approved 

Stipulated Agreement in Pitts dismissed allegations that the elected Elko 

County Sheriff violated the Ethics Law when he appeared in full uniform at 

various campaign events during his campaign for re-election.  

c. At the time this Complaint was submitted, Antinoro was campaigning as an 

incumbent for re-election as the Storey County Sheriff. 

d. The homepage of Antinoro’s campaign website, www.antinoroforsheriff.com, 

displayed a photo of Antinoro wearing his Storey County Sheriff’s uniform and 

badge. 

e. Signs for Antinoro’s re-election campaign displayed photos of Antinoro wearing 

his Storey County Sheriff’s uniform and badge. 

f. Antinoro’s Facebook page contained posts for “meet and greet” campaign 

events. A post dated April 9, 2018 displayed a photo of Antinoro’s Storey 

County Sheriff’s badge and a post dated May 24, 2018 displayed a photo of 

Antinoro wearing his Storey County Sheriff’s badge. 

g. On May 24, 2018, May 29, 2018 and June 5, 2018, Antinoro attended debates 

leading to the primary election while wearing his Storey County Sheriff’s badge, 

gun and holster. 

                                                 
1 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 281A.755. 
All statutory and common law protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and are not affected 
by this Stipulated Agreement. 

http://www.antinoroforsheriff.com/


DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 4 of 10 

 
 

h. On May 28, 2018, Antinoro wore his “soft uniform,” consisting of a Storey 

County Sheriff’s Office polo shirt and jeans, and also wore his badge, gun and 

holster. 

i. During his 2018 campaign for re-election, Antinoro hosted four live radio shows 

on KCKQ 1180 AM, produced by America Matters Media. The shows aired on 

May 22, May 29, June 5 and June 12 between 9:00 am and 10:00 am. During 

the show, entitled “Sheriff Jerry and Friends,” Antinoro identified himself as the 

Storey County Sheriff and discussed sheriff’s office issues and the upcoming 

primary election with guests and friends. Using his campaign funds, Antinoro 

purchased the airtime for the four shows during a silent auction at a fundraiser 

event. The silent auction item was donated by Eddie Floyd (“Floyd”) of America 

Media Matters.  

j. During the May 29, 2018 radio show, Antinoro gave a “shoutout” to Canvas 

Café, a Virginia City business, for its sponsorship of the radio show. On April 

7, 2018, Canvas Café provided a $250 in-kind contribution to Antinoro’s 

campaign for re-election.    

k. During the June 5, 2018 radio show, a live debate was moderated between 

Cullen and Antinoro and Cullen observed that Antinoro wore his badge, belt, 

holster and gun in the studio during the debate.  

l. During the June 12, 2018 radio show, which aired the morning of primary 

election day, Antinoro discussed the election and focused attention on his 

candidacy.  

m. Advertisements for the Virginia City Kettle Corn Depot have been aired during 

Antinoro’s radio show. The owner of this business worked on Antinoro’s 

campaign.  

n. Following the primary election, Floyd asked Antinoro to continue broadcasting 

“Sheriff Jerry and Friends,” which he continues to do on a weekly basis. 

Antinoro does not get paid for doing the broadcasts and does not utilize any 

government funds, time or equipment.  



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 5 of 10 

 
 

o. Antinoro did not use public funds or receive a uniform or other 

allowance/reimbursement to pay for his Sheriff’s uniform and other items 

associated with the uniform, including his badge and duty weapon.  

5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Antinoro and 

the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Consolidated 

Stipulated Agreement is agreed to by the parties. 

b. Antinoro holds public office, which constitutes a public trust to be held for the 

sole benefit of the people of the State of Nevada (in particular, the people of 

Storey County). Public officers have a duty to avoid conflicts of interest 

between public duties and private interests. NRS 281A.020.  

c. Antinoro had a significant personal and financial interest in maintaining his 

elected (paid) position as the Sheriff of Storey County during his campaign for 

re-election. 

d. Incumbent public officers are not entitled to the advantage of public resources 

during a campaign for re-election. See In re Matson, Comm’n Op. No. 11-67C 

(2014).  

e. An elected public officer must not use the public officer’s position in 

government to secure unwarranted campaign advantages for himself (NRS 

281A.400(2)). A preference or advantage is unwarranted, in part, if the public 

officer’s conduct was contrary to any applicable law, code or policy. An elected 

public officer also must not use government time or resources to benefit his 

significant personal or financial interests. NRS 281A.400(7). Limited use of 

government resources is permitted only if the use is authorized by policy, does 

not interfere with the public officer’s performance of public duties, has a 

nominal cost and does not create an appearance of impropriety. NRS 

281A.400(7)(a).  

f. On February 23, 2012, the United States Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”)2  

issued an advisory opinion concluding that an elected sheriff may wear his 

                                                 
2 The OSC is a federal investigative and prosecutorial agency that promotes compliance by providing 
advisory opinions on, and enforcing, the Hatch Act. 



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 6 of 10 

 
 

uniform while campaigning for himself or for another candidate without 

violating the federal Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. §§ 1501-1508), which governs the 

political activity of certain state and local government employees.  

g. The Hatch Act and the OSC’s advisory opinions apply only to partisan political 

activities and do not prevent the State or local government employers/agencies 

from creating ethics laws or internal political activities policies that are more 

stringent than the Hatch Act. Furthermore, neither the Act nor the OSC’s 

opinions preempt a state’s ability to enforce its ethics laws requiring its elected 

public officers to avoid conflicts of interest when they engage in political 

activities. 

h. A sheriff’s office uniform and badge, which signify the power and prestige of 

the office, are considered governmental property or equipment under NRS 

281A.400(7).3 Accordingly, in In re Kirkland, Comm’n Opinion No. 98-41 

(1998), the Commission found that a sheriff’s limited use of his uniform, badge 

and “other physical accouterments” in the course of endorsing another 

person’s candidacy violates NRS 281A.400(7) because it creates an 

appearance of impropriety. More recently, the Commission concluded that an 

undersheriff violates NRS 281A.400(7) when he uses the “physical 

accouterments of his office” to bolster his own campaign for sheriff by 

displaying himself in full dress uniform and using his badge in campaign 

photos. In re Kuzanek, Comm’n Op. No. 14-61C (2014) (“A public officer and/or 

employee cannot engage in any activity that involves the use of . . . state or 

political subdivision badge or uniform to give that person an advantage, and it 

creates the appearance of impropriety.”)  

i. An elected sheriff’s use of his official uniform, badge and “other physical 

accouterments” of the public office in the course of supporting his own 

campaign for re-election also creates an appearance of impropriety and 

violates NRS 281A.400(7).  

                                                 
3 The fact that Antinoro purchased his own uniform and/or badge does not alter the government nature of 
the property.   



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 7 of 10 

 
 

j. The allegations pertaining to NRS 281A.400(1), (2) and (7) and NRS 

281A.400.520 associated with Antinoro’s conduct related to the “Sheriff Jerry 

and Friends” radio show lack sufficient evidence to support a violation by a 

preponderance of the evidence and are therefore dismissed through this 

Consolidated Stipulated Agreement. Antinoro’s participation in a radio show 

paid for with his campaign funds was not contrary to the faithful discharge of 

this public duties (NRS 281A.400(1)) and did not result in an unwarranted 

advantage (NRS 281A.400(2)). Furthermore, Antinoro did not use any 

government funds, property or time, in violation of NRS 281A.400(7) or NRS 

281A.520, when he participated in the radio shows.     

k. Antinoro’s use of his official uniform and badge during campaign debates and 

in photos used for his campaign for re-election implicates the provisions of 

NRS 281A.400(7). However, the preponderance of evidence does not support 

a violation of NRS 281A.400(2) or (7) related to Antinoro’s use of his uniform 

and badge, and the Commission dismisses these allegations through this 

Stipulated Agreement, based upon a consideration of the following factors:  

(1) Antinoro relied in good faith upon the Stipulated Agreement approved by 

the Commission in Pitts, as represented to him and other elected incumbent 

sheriffs at the July 27, 2016 meeting of the Nevada Sheriffs’ and Chiefs’ 

Association; 

(2) Although the February 29, 2012 OSC advisory opinion is not binding on 

state and local governments that create laws or policies regulating the 

political activity of their public employees and public officers, the opinion 

created a legal uncertainty for Antinoro and other elected sheriffs;   

(3) Antinoro has been diligent to cooperate with and to participate in the 

Commission’s investigation and analysis, as well as the resolution process; 

and 

(4) The use of uniforms and badges in campaign materials and during 

campaign events has been employed by candidates for other law 

enforcement offices in Nevada.  



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 8 of 10 

 
 

l. Antinoro and the Commission agree that the Commission’s Executive Director 

will send a letter to the Nevada Sheriffs’ and Chiefs’ Association that provides 

information and guidance about the Commission’s position that the use of 

uniforms, badges and other physical accouterments of office by elected sheriffs 

during their campaigns for re-election creates an appearance of impropriety 

and violates NRS 281A.400(7). 

m. This Consolidated Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the 

specific facts, circumstances and law related to the Ethics Complaints now 

before the Commission. Any facts or circumstances that may come to light after 

its entry that are in addition to or differ from those contained herein may create 

a different resolution of these matters. 

n. This Agreement is intended to apply to and resolve only these Ethics 

Complaints and is not intended to be applicable to or create any admission of 

liability for any other proceeding, including administrative, civil, or criminal 

regarding Antinoro. If the Commission rejects this Stipulated Agreement, none 

of the provisions herein shall be considered by the Commission or be 

admissible as evidence in a hearing on the merits in this matter. 

6. WAIVER 

a. Antinoro knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to a hearing before the full 

Commission on the allegations in Ethics Complaint Case Nos. 18-031C and 

18-052C and all rights he may be accorded with regard to these matters 

pursuant to the Ethics Law (NRS Chapter 281A), the regulations of the 

Commission (NAC Chapter 281A), the Nevada Administrative Procedures Act 

(NRS Chapter 233B) and any other applicable provisions of law.  

b. Antinoro knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to any judicial review of 

these matters as provided in NRS Chapter 281A, NRS Chapter 233B or any 

other applicable provisions of law. 

  



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 9 of 10 

 
 

7. ACCEPTANCE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Consolidated 

Stipulated Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be 

bound thereby. The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this Agreement 

during the regular meeting of the Commission on August 21, 2019.4 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT          
       Gerald Antinoro 

 
FOR GERALD ANTINORO,   

 Subject 
 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT          
       Katherine F. Parks, Esq. 

Counsel for Subject 
 

The above Stipulated Agreement is approved by: 
 

FOR YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 
Executive Director, Commission on Ethics 
 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT      

       Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
       Associate Counsel 

 
  

                                                 
4 Subject waived any right to receive written notice pursuant to NRS 241.033 of the time and place of the 
Commission’s meeting to consider his character, alleged misconduct, professional competence, or physical 
or mental health. 



DRAFT 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaint Nos. 18-031C/18-052C 
Page 10 of 10 

 
 

Approved as to form by: 
       FOR NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT      

       Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
       Commission Counsel 
 
The above Stipulated Agreement is accepted by the majority of the Commission.5 
 

 
DATED    . 
 
 
By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq.        Kim Wallin 
 Vice-Chair        Commissioner 

By: DRAFT   By:  DRAFT   
 Barbara Gruenewald, Esq.        Amanda Yen, Esq. 
 Commissioner        Commissioner 

By: DRAFT    
 Philip K. O’Neill 
 Commissioner 

 

 

                                                 
5 Chair Lau and Commissioners Duffrin and Lowry participated in the Review Panel hearing for Complaint 
No. 18-031C and are therefore precluded from participating in this Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 
pursuant to NRS 281A.220(4). 



18-031C























18-052C















 

Panel Determination 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-031C 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
In re Gerald Antinoro, Sheriff,  
Storey County, State of Nevada, 
 
 Subject. / 
 

Ethics Complaint No. 18-031C 

PANEL DETERMINATION1 
NRS 281A.725 

 
The Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) received this Ethics Complaint 

No. 18-031C (“Complaint”) regarding the alleged conduct of Gerald Antinoro (“Antinoro”), 
Storey County Sheriff, State of Nevada, in violation of the Ethics in Government Law set 
forth in NRS Chapter 281A (“Ethics Law”). The Commission issued its Order on 
Jurisdiction and Investigation on July 16, 2018, which Order instructed the Executive 
Director to investigate alleged violations of NRS 281A.400(2) and (7) regarding Antinoro’s 
use of the Storey County Sheriff’s Office uniform and badge during his campaign for re-
election. 

 
Antinoro is a public officer as defined in NRS 281A.160. The Commission has 

jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRS 281A.280 because the allegations contained 
in the Complaint relate to the Subject’s conduct as a public officer and has associated 
implications under the Ethics Law. 

 
 On February 20, 2019, a Review Panel (“Panel”) consisting of Chair Cheryl A. Lau, 
Esq. (Presiding Officer) and Commissioners Brian Duffrin and Teresa Lowry, Esq., 
reviewed the following: 1) Ethics Complaint No. 18-031C; 2) Order on Jurisdiction and 
Investigation; 3) Subject’s Response to the Complaint; and 4) Executive Director’s 
Recommendation to the Review Panel.2  
 
 Under NAC 281A.430, the Panel unanimously finds and concludes that the facts 
establish credible evidence to support a determination that just and sufficient cause exists 
for the Commission to render an opinion in the matter regarding the alleged violations of 
NRS 281A.400(2) and (7).  
 
/// 
 
/// 
 
///  

                                                 
1 Except as provided by law, a Panel Determination shall not be cited as precedent. 
2 All materials provided to the Panel, except the Complaint and the Order on Jurisdiction and Investigation, 
represent portions of the investigatory file and remain confidential pursuant to NRS 281A.750. 



 

Panel Determination 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-031C 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:  
 

The Review Panel refers Request for Opinion No. 18-031C to the Commission to 
render an opinion in the matter in furtherance of this just and sufficient cause determination. 

 

Dated this   27th   day of      February      , 2019. 
 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

By:  /s/ Cheryl A. Lau   By:  /s/ Teresa Lowry    
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq.  Teresa Lowry, Esq. 
 Chair/Presiding Officer 
 

 Commissioner 

By:  /s/ Brian Duffrin   
 
 

 Brian Duffrin 
 Commissioner 

  
 

 
  



 

Panel Determination 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-031C 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 
 
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
PANEL DETERMINATION via U.S. Certified Mail and electronic mail as follows: 
 
 

Katherine F. Parks, Esq. 
Thorndal Armstrong et al 
6590 S. McCarran Blvd., #B 
Reno, NV 8950 
 
   Attorney for Subject 

Certified Mail: 9171 9690 0935 0037 6376 41 
Email:  kfp@thorndal.com 
cc: psb@thorndal.com 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 Dated:  2/27/19             
Employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 











 
 

 
Notice of Hearing to Consider Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaints Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C 
Page 1 of 2 

 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

In re Gerald Antinoro, Sheriff, 
Storey County, State of Nevada, 
 
       Subject. / 

            Ethics Complaints  
Case Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C 

 

 
 

 

NOTICE OF HEARING TO CONSIDER  
CONSOLIDATED STIPULATED AGREEMENT 

NRS 281A.745 
 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 
hold a public meeting to consider a proposed Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 
regarding the allegations submitted in Ethics Complaints Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C at 
the following time and location: 

 
 

When:  Wednesday, August 21, 2019 at 9:30 a.m. 
 

Where: Governor’s Office of Economic Development 
 808 W. Nye Lane 
 Carson City, NV 89703 
 
 and via video-conference to: 
 
 Grant Sawyer State Building 
 555 E. Washington Avenue, Suite 5400 
 Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 
Ethics Complaints Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C are not consolidated for any other 

proceedings in these matters. Subject has waived the personal notice requirements of 
NRS 241.033 (Nevada’s Open Meeting Law) in both matters and is provided the 
opportunity to appear at the hearing in person or telephonically. If the proposed 
Consolidated Stipulated Agreement is approved, it will serve as the final written opinion 
pursuant to NRS 281A.135. 

 
 
 

DATED:       August 13, 2019     /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
 Commission Counsel 
  



 
 

 
Notice of Hearing to Consider Consolidated Stipulated Agreement 

Ethics Complaints Nos. 18-031C and 18-052C 
Page 2 of 2 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
Notice of Hearing to Consider Consolidated Stipulated Agreement via electronic 
mail to the Parties as follows: 
 

 
 
 
DATED:    August 13, 2019          
 Employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
Gerald Antinoro 
c/o Katherine F. Parks, Esq. 
Thorndal Armstrong et al 
6590 S. McCarran Blvd., #B 
Reno, NV 8950 

Email:  ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
Email:  jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 
 
  
Email:  kfp@thorndal.com 
cc: psb@thorndal.com 



Agenda Item 5 



Page 1 of 2

State of Nevada
COMMISSION ON ETHICS

MEMORANDUM – AGENDA ITEM NO. 5
*****

DATE: August 21, 2019
TO: Nevada Commission on Ethics
FROM: Tracy Chase, Commission Counsel
RE: Agenda Item No. 5 - Determination and direction regarding referral of the

Commission’s finding of a willful violation of the Ethics Law pursuant to a
Stipulated Agreement in In re Cooper, Comm’n Op. No. 18-005C (2019)
and all associated public records to the Nevada Attorney General
pursuant to NRS 281A.790(7).

________________________________________________________________

On May 22, 2019, during its regular meeting, the Nevada Commission on Ethics
(“Commission”) requested a future agenda item to determine whether the Commission
must refer the Stipulated Agreement approved in In re Cooper, Ethics Complaint No.
18-005C, to the Attorney General’s Office in compliance with its mandatory statutory
duties set forth in NRS 281A.790(7). NRS 281A.790(7) states:

The provisions of this chapter do not abrogate or decrease the effect of
the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes which define crimes or
prescribe punishments with respect to the conduct of public officers or
employees. If the Commission finds that a public officer or employee has
committed a willful violation of this chapter which it believes may also
constitute a criminal offense, the Commission shall refer the matter to the
Attorney General or the district attorney, as appropriate, for a
determination of whether a crime has been committed that warrants
prosecution.

As background, on February 2, 2018, the Commission received an Ethics complaint
from a member of the public alleging that Lisa Cooper, the Former Executive Director of
Nevada’s Massage Therapy Board, improperly used her public position to receive
additional unauthorized annual leave and compensation in violation of NRS
281A.400(1) and (2). The Commission ordered the Executive Director to investigate the
matter. The administrative proceedings are civil and ultimately were resolved by the
Commission’s approval of a Stipulated Agreement on May 22, 2019. The attached fully-
executed Stipulated Agreement constitutes the final opinion of the Commission
pursuant to NRS 281A.135, and is properly cited as In re Cooper, Comm’n Op. No. 18-
005C (2019).

In reaching the Stipulated Agreement, the Executive Director was represented by
Associated Counsel, Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. and Ms. Cooper was represented by Lyn



Page 2 of 2 
 

Beggs, Esq. Pursuant to In re Cooper, Comm’n Op. No. 18-005C (2019), the 
Commission determined that Ms. Cooper committed a willful violation of the Ethics Law 
and a penalty of $5,000 was imposed for the violation. In addition, the opinion imposed 
an additional civil penalty pursuant to NRS 281A.790(3) in the amount of $20,023, 
which represented the total financial benefit realized by Ms. Cooper by virtue of her 
willful violation, as stipulated by the parties. 
 
In furtherance of the Commission’s direction, Commission Counsel contacted the 
Attorney General’s Office to determine whether it has established protocols associated 
with prosecution referrals. On July 31, 2019, the Attorney General issued the attached 
Memorandum detailing the protocols for criminal investigation and prosecution referrals.  
 
On August 6, 2019, Commission Counsel contacted the parties, through their respective 
counsel, to advise that the Commission will consider referral of In re Cooper, Comm’n 
Op. No. 18-005C (2019) to the Attorney General pursuant to NRS 281A.790(7) at its 
next meeting scheduled for August 21, 2019 and confirmed that the parties and their 
counsel may attend the meeting to provide public comment. Further, Commission 
Counsel received consent from Ms. Cooper’s attorney that the attached Open Meeting 
Law waiver previously provided applies to the these proceedings, which satisfies the 
notice requirements of NRS 241.033.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
It is recommended that the Commission provide direction on whether it believes the 
willful violation found in In re Cooper, Comm’n Op. No. 18-005C (2019) also constitutes 
a criminal offense, and if so, in accordance with NRS 281A.790(7), provide direction to 
Commission Counsel and Executive Director to refer the matter on behalf of the 
Commission, including all associated public records, to the Attorney General, pursuant 
to established referral protocols, and to cooperate with the Attorney General, as 
requested, within the boundaries of the Ethics Law. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: 
 
I move that the Commission reasonably believes that the willful violation of the Ethics 
Law stipulated to in In re Cooper, Comm’n Op. No. 18-005C (2019) also constitutes a 
criminal offense and direct Commission Counsel and the Executive Director to refer the 
matter on behalf of the Commission, including all associated public records, to the 
Attorney General’s Office, and to cooperate with the Attorney General, as requested.  
 
 
Attachments: 
In re Cooper, Comm’n Op. No. 18-005C (2019) 
Attorney General Memorandum dated July 31, 2019 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 1 of 11 
 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 

In re Lisa Cooper, Former Executive 
Director, Board of Massage Therapy,  
State of Nevada, 
 
                                    Subject. / 

  Ethics Complaint 
 Case No. 18-005C 

       
                   

                                                                                                              

 
STIPULATED AGREEMENT 

 
 1. PURPOSE: This Stipulated Agreement resolves Ethics Complaint Case No. 

18-005C (“Complaint”) before the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

concerning Lisa Cooper (“Cooper”), the former Executive Director for the Board of 

Massage Therapy (“Board”) in the State of Nevada. 

 2. JURISDICTION: At all material times, Cooper was a public officer as 

defined in NRS 281A.160. The Ethics in Government Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS 

Chapter 281A gives the Commission jurisdiction over elected and appointed public 

officers and public employees whose conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions 

of NRS Chapter 281A. See NRS 281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction 

over Cooper in this matter.  

 3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION 

a. On or about February 2, 2018, the Commission received this Complaint from a 

member of the public (“Requester”), alleging that Cooper used her public 

position to receive additional unauthorized annual leave and compensation in 

violation of NRS 281A.400(1) and (2).  

b. On March 22, 2018, the Commission issued its Order on Jurisdiction and 

Investigation and directed the Executive Director to investigate this matter. 

c. On March 22, 2018, the Executive Director issued a Notice of Complaint and 

Investigation pursuant to NRS 281A.720 and Cooper was provided an 

opportunity to provide a written response to the Complaint. 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 2 of 11 
 

 

d. On November 2, 2018, in lieu of submitting a written response, Cooper and her 

legal counsel, Lyn Beggs, Esq., elected to meet with Commission staff to 

provide an oral response.  

e. On March 14, 2019, the Executive Director presented a recommendation 

relating to just and sufficient cause to a three-member review panel pursuant 

to NRS 281A.720. 

f. In a Panel Determination issued on March 20, 2019, the Panel unanimously 

found and concluded that: 

1) Credible evidence supported just and sufficient cause for the 

Commission to render an opinion in the matter regarding the alleged 

violations of NRS 281A.400(1) and (2) related to Cooper’s use of her 

public position to receive additional unauthorized annual leave and 

compensation; and 

2) The matter should be referred to the Commission for further 

proceedings. 

g. In lieu of an adjudicatory hearing before the Commission, Cooper now enters 

into this Stipulated Agreement. 

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following facts were 

relevant to this matter:1  

a. Cooper was appointed as the Executive Director of the Board on or about 

September 25, 2006 and remained in that position until March 2016.  

b. The Board was created in 2005 as the licensing and regulatory agency for the 

practice of massage therapy in Nevada. NRS Chapter 640C specifies the 

authorized activities of the Board.   

c. The Board consists of nine voting members, including eight massage therapy 

practitioners and a representative of the public, and one nonvoting advisory 

member appointed by the Governor. The nonvoting advisory member must be 

a resident of Clark County, certified by P.O.S.T., and a current or former police 

officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. 

                                                 
1 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 281A.755. 
All statutory and common law protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and are not affected 
by this Stipulated Agreement. 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 3 of 11 
 

 

d. Pursuant to NRS 284.013(1), the Board’s staff is not subject to the terms and 

conditions of employment outlined in NRS Chapter 284 and applicable to 

persons within the State Personnel System. The terms and conditions of 

employment applicable to Board staff, including salaries and leaves of 

absence, must be fixed by the Board, which is the appointing or employing 

authority. See NRS 284.013(2). 

e. The Board approved Cooper’s starting salary of $58,488 and subsequently 

authorized raises for Cooper in 2007 ($67,272), 2008 ($80,000) and 2013 

($92,000).  

f. Pursuant to NRS 353.005, the Board is excluded from the State Budget Act 

and the associated provisions governing the administration of state funding. 

Accordingly, the State’s Department of Administration does not provide 

oversight of the Board’s annual budgeting and accounting practices and 

procedures. 

g. The Board’s fiscal records are audited annually by an outside accountant and 

a report of the audit is submitted to the Legislative Auditor and the Chief of the 

Budget Division of the Office of Finance on or before December 1 following the 

end of each fiscal year. NRS 218G.400.  

h. Pursuant to NRS 640C.200, the Board employs an Executive Director to serve 

as the chief administrative officer of the Board at a level of compensation set 

by the Board. 

i. Board staff is paid bimonthly and receives a paycheck on the 15th and the last 

day of every month, for a total of 24 paychecks per year. Board paychecks are 

processed at the Board office through Quickbooks and paychecks get issued 

to Board staff by the Executive Director without any Board approval or 

oversight. 

j. During her tenure as Executive Director, Cooper was solely responsible for 

payroll administration and the retention of all payroll records.   

k. Sandra Anderson (“Anderson”) is the current Board Executive Director and has 

served in the position since 2016.  



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 4 of 11 
 

 

l. Anderson was notified in an October 10, 2017 letter from the Governor’s 

Finance Office that an audit of the Board was being conducted (“Governor’s 

Audit”). The October 2017 letter included a request for information about the 

salary history for the Board’s Executive Director and other staff members for 

fiscal years 2014-2017.  

m. While reviewing and collecting the information requested for the Governor’s 

Audit, Anderson discovered that Cooper had paid herself 10 extra paychecks 

between 2011 and 2014, resulting in total net compensation of $29,907.73 and 

the payout of 244 hours of accrued, unused annual leave and 324 hours of 

sick leave. The annual breakdown of extra paychecks received was as follows: 

 

                                                 
2 As further described in paragraph 4.aa, the Board agreed to pay out all of Cooper’s accrued unused 
annual leave and half of her accrued unused sick time upon her termination. 

PAY DATE GROSS PAY NET PAY 
LEAVE PAID OUT 

EARLY 
LEAVE PAYOUT ENTITLED TO 

AT TERMINATION2 

09/28/11 $3,333.33 $2,749.00 
44 hours sick 

44 hours annual 
22 hours sick ($687.25) 

44 hours annual ($1374.56) 

01/31/12 $3,333.33 $2,753.00 None NA 

11/21/12 $3,333.33 $2,817.00 80 hours sick 40 hours sick ($1408.50) 

01/09/13 $3,333.33 $2,817.00 None NA 

07/11/13 $3,333.33 $2,824.00 
40 hours sick 

40 hours annual 
20 hours sick ($706.00) 

40 hours annual ($1412.00) 

09/19/13 $3,833.33 $3,194.75 
40 hours sick 

40 hours annual 
20 hours sick ($798.70) 

40 hours annual ($1597.40) 

11/21/13 $3,833.33 $3,194.74 
40 hours sick 

40 hours annual 
20 hours sick ($798.70) 

40 hours annual ($1597.40) 

01/02/14 $3,833.33 $3,202.75 None NA 

03/26/14 $3,833.33 $3,202.75 
40 hours sick 

40 hours annual 
20 hours sick ($800.70) 

40 hours annual ($1601.40) 

07/10/14 $3,833.33 $3,152.74 
40 hours sick 

40 hours annual 
20 hours sick ($788.18) 

40 hours annual ($1576.35) 

TOTAL $35,833.33 $29,907.73 
324 hours sick 

244 hours annual 

162 hours sick leave plus 244 
hours annual leave  

$15,147 total 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 5 of 11 
 

 

n. Cooper’s extra paychecks resulted in her receiving annual compensation that 

exceeded the annual gross compensation levels approved by the Board 

between 2011 and 2014, as follows: 

     Board Approved  Actual   
   2011  $80,000   $83,333 
   2012  $80,000   $86,667 
   2013  $86,0003   $99,833 
   2014  $92,000   $103,500 
 

o. Cooper did not obtain Board approval before she issued the extra paychecks 

to herself. Additionally, Cooper did not notify any individual Board member or 

the Board’s legal counsel that she was doing so.  

p. The extra paychecks received by Cooper were not noticed by Board members 

because only lump sum payroll numbers where reflected in the financial 

records that Cooper prepared and shared with the Board. 

q. Cooper characterizes the extra paychecks as appropriate “payouts” of accrued 

and unused annual and/or sick leave, paid in lieu of time off. However, the extra 

paychecks dated 09/28/11, 01/09/13 and 01/02/14 indicate that no annual or 

sick leave was being paid out to Cooper.  

r. No existing Board records or written policies exist authorizing the payout of 

unused annual or sick leave during employment. 

s. No other Board staff members were permitted to receive payouts of accrued 

unused leave, in lieu of taking time off, during their employment with the Board. 

t.  The Board’s annual financial reports that were prepared by an independent 

auditor and submitted to the Legislative Auditor were based upon annual 

budgets prepared by the Board’s Executive Director and reviewed by the Board 

and complete QuickBooks files for each year subject to an audit.  The Board 

did not review the complete QuickBooks files provided to the auditor at the time 

of Board meetings, but rather reviewed financial statements prepared by the 

Board’s Executive Director.  None of the information contained in the financial 

statements provided to the Board was specific enough to reveal the extra 

                                                 
3 On July 12, 2013, the Board approved a salary increase for Cooper and her annual salary increased from 
$80,000 to $92,000. With the salary increase effective during the second half of 2013, Cooper’s total annual 
compensation should have equaled approximately $86,000. 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 6 of 11 
 

 

paychecks received by Cooper as purported leave payouts. Only general totals 

for “Personnel” and “Salaries” were provided.  However, the independent 

auditor did have access to more detailed records. 

u. Budget documents prepared by Cooper for the Board’s review failed to report 

Cooper’s purported annual and sick pay buy-outs during fiscal years 2012, 

2013, 2014 and 2015.  

v. Before 2016, the Board did not have any written policies or procedures in place 

to govern the terms and conditions of employment for Board staff.   

w. The Board Employee Manual dated April 2016 reflected the Board’s existing 

practice and policy regarding annual leave accrual - employees with less than 

10 years of continuous service earn 10 hours of annual leave per month (5 

hours per pay period). After 10 years of continuous service, employees earn 

12 hours of annual leave per month; 14 hours of annual leave per month are 

earned after 15 years of service.  

x. The Board Employee Manual permits payment of unused accrued annual leave 

upon termination if the employee has worked at least six months. Payout of 

unused accrued sick leave is not permitted.  

y. Cooper was accruing 8 hours of annual leave per month (4 hours per pay 

period) between 2011 and 2014. However, she increased her annual leave 

accrual to 14 hours per month (7 hours per pay period), beginning with her 

paycheck dated March 14, 2014. As a result, Cooper accumulated over 100 

hours of annual leave, worth approximately $5,263 (net) that she was not 

entitled to, as calculated by the Board. 

z. Cooper did not obtain Board approval before she increased her vacation 

accrual. Additionally, Cooper did not notify any individual Board member or the 

Board’s legal counsel that she was doing so. 

aa. During a December 31, 2015 public meeting of the Board, the Board 

unanimously accepted Cooper’s resignation as Executive Director and agreed 

to pay out all of Cooper’s accrued unused annual leave and half of her accrued 

unused sick time upon her termination. As a result, Cooper received a net 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 7 of 11 
 

 

amount of $24,702.46 for her accrued unused annual and sick leave in March 

2016.  

bb. Had she not received the unauthorized payouts of 244 hours of annual leave 

and 324 hours of sick leave during her employment, Cooper would have been 

entitled to an additional net amount of approximately $15,147 upon termination. 

5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Cooper and 

the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Stipulated 

Agreement is agreed to by the parties. 

b. Cooper was a public officer, which constitutes a public trust to be held for the 

sole benefit of the people of the State of Nevada. 

c. As a former public officer, Cooper should not have sought or accepted any gift, 

service, favor, emolument or economic opportunity which would tend 

improperly to influence a reasonable person in her position to depart from the 

faithful and impartial discharge of her public duties (NRS 281A.400(1)). Cooper 

also should not have used her public position to secure unwarranted privileges, 

preferences, exemptions or advantages for herself (NRS 281A.400(2)). The 

Commission considers whether an action is unwarranted pursuant to NRS 

281A.400(2) if the action was contrary to statute or otherwise against written 

policies that are applicable to the public officer. 

d. Cooper violated NRS 281A.400(1) because the receipt of unauthorized 

compensation and leave accrual was not consistent with Cooper’s 

responsibility to carry out the faithful and impartial discharge of her public 

duties as the Executive Director of the Board.  

e. Cooper secured unwarranted privileges or advantages for herself, in violation 

of NRS 281A.400(2), because the Board did not have a policy, custom or 

practice of providing payouts of annual or sick leave during employment and 

Cooper used her position to issue additional checks to herself and increase 

her accrual of annual leave without obtaining Board approval to receive 

additional compensation or annual leave.  



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 8 of 11 
 

 

f. Cooper’s actions constitute a single course of conduct resulting in one violation 

of the Ethics Law, implicating the provisions of NRS 281A.400(1) and (2) as 

interpreted and applied in accordance with the provisions of NRS 281A.020. 

g. Cooper’s violation was willful pursuant to NRS 281A.170 because she acted 

intentionally and knowingly, as those terms are defined in NRS 281A.105 and 

281A.115, respectively. 

h. For an act to be intentional, NRS 281A.105 does not require that Cooper acted 

in bad faith, or with ill will, evil intent or malice. However, Cooper acted in 

reckless disregard of the Ethics Law when she voluntarily or deliberately 

caused extra paychecks to be issued to herself and increased her vacation 

accrual without Board approval. See In re McNair, Comm’n Op. Nos. 10-105C, 

10-106C, 10-108C, 10-109C and 10-110C (2011) (“the relevant inquiry 

regarding willful misconduct is an inquiry into the intentional nature of the 

actor’s conduct . . . The fact that an actor may have acted with the best of 

intentions does not relieve the actor of liability.”) (citation omitted). 

i. NRS 281A.115 defines “knowingly” as “import[ing] a knowledge that the facts 

exist which constitute the act or omission.” NRS Chapter 281A does not require 

that Cooper had actual knowledge that his conduct violated the Ethics Law, 

but it does impose constructive knowledge when other facts are present that 

should put an ordinarily prudent person upon inquiry. See In re Stark, Comm’n 

Op. No. 10-48C (2010). Even if Cooper was deemed to have no actual 

knowledge that her conduct would violate the provisions of NRS 281A, 

Cooper’s career in public service should have made her aware of the statutes 

and regulations governing public officers.  

j. Pursuant to the factors set forth in NRS 281A.775 in determining whether a 

violation is willful and the penalty to be imposed, the Commission has 

considered the following factors:  

1) Cooper has not previously violated the Ethics Law.   

2) Cooper has been diligent to cooperate with and participate in the 

Commission’s investigation and resolution of this matter. 



Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 18-005C 

Page 9 of 11 
 

 

k. However, these mitigating factors are offset by the seriousness of Cooper’s 

conduct when measured against the public’s trust that public officers will not 

use their public position or influence to acquire economic opportunities or 

advantages for themselves that are not available to the general public. 

l. For the willful violation, Cooper will pay a civil penalty of $5,000.00 pursuant to 

NRS 281A.790(1)(a). Pursuant to NRS 281A.790(3), Cooper will pay an 

additional civil penalty in the amount of $20,023.00, which penalty is described 

in the chart below and equals the financial benefit realized by Cooper. The total 

$25,023.00 penalty may be paid in one lump sum or in monthly installment 

payments, as arranged with the Commission’s Executive Director, with final 

payment due not later than June 30, 2021. 

 

$29,907.00 
Total net pay received from 10 unauthorized extra paychecks 
(paragraph 4.m) 

minus 
$15,147.00 

244 hours of accrued annual leave and half (162 hours) of 
accrued sick leave that would have been paid to Subject 
upon termination if she did not receive the unauthorized extra 
paychecks (see 5th column in paragraph 4.m) 

= $14,760.00 
Total financial benefit realized by Subject from extra 
paychecks 

plus 
$5,263.00 

Value of over 100 hours of unauthorized accrued annual 
leave that was paid to Subject upon termination (paragraph 
4.y) 

= $20,023.00 
Total financial benefit realized by Subject for purposes 
of additional civil penalty (NRS 281A.790(3)) 

 

m. This Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the specific facts, 

circumstances and law related to the Ethics Complaint now before the 

Commission. Any facts or circumstances that may come to light after its entry 

that are in addition to or differ from those contained herein may create a 

different resolution of this matter. 

n. This Agreement is intended to apply to and resolve only this Ethics Complaint 

and is not intended to be applicable to or create any admission of liability for 



any other proceeding, including administrative, civil, or criminal regarding

Cooper. lf the Commission rejects this Stipulated Agreement, none of the

provisions herein shall be considered by the Commission or be admissible as

evidence in a hearing on the merits in this matter.

6. wAlvER

a. Cooper knowingly and voluntarily waives her right to a hearing before the full

Commission on the allegations in Ethics Complaint Case No. 18-005C and all

rights she may be accorded with regard to this matter pursuant to the Ethics

Law (NRS Chapter 2B1A), the regulations of the Commission (NAC Chapter

281A), the Nevada Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 2338) and

any other applicable provisions of law.

b. Cooper knowingly and voluntarily waives her right to any judicial review of this

matter as provided in NRS Chapter 281A, NRS Chapter 2338 or any other

applicable provisions of law.

7. ACGEPTANGE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Stipulated

Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be bound thereby.

The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this agreement during the regular

meeting of the Commission on May 22,2019.4

DArEDthisl4 aayot (fl\ ,2s1s.

FOR LISA COOPER,
Subject

DAIED thi&a"y ot /7O^.r,zot

4 Subject waived any right to receive written notice pursuant to NRS 241.033 of the time and place of the
Comrirission's meeti-ng io consider his character, alldged misconduct, professional competence, or physical
or mental health.

Stipulated Agreement
Ethics Complaint No. l8-005C

Page 10 of 1 1
















	Item 4_Antinoro (Public).pdf
	02_FINALDraftStipAgreement_18-031Cand18-052C(Antinoro)
	STATE OF NEVADA
	BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	CONSOLIDATED STIPULATED AGREEMENT


	03_20180530_Complaint_18-031C (Antinoro)_kp
	04_20180730_Complaint 18-052C(Antinoro)_dh
	07_20190227_PanelDetermination_18-031C(Antinoro)
	08_20190326_SignedOMLWaiver_18-031C
	09_20190813_SignedOMLWaiver_18-052C(Antinoro)
	10_20190813_SignedRevPanelWaiver_18-052C(Antinoro)
	11_20190813_NOH(ConsolidatedStip)_18-031C&18-052C(Antinorol)_dh

	Item 5_Cooper (Public).pdf
	FROM: Tracy Chase, Commission Counsel
	20190529_StipulatedAgreement_18-005C(Cooper).pdf
	STATE OF NEVADA
	BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS
	STIPULATED AGREEMENT






